STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMIE L. STROMAN,

APPELLANT

RECEIVED

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000823

MAR 06 2018

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SC Court of Appeals

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in qualifying a counselor and forensic interviewer as an expert in child abuse dynamics and disclosure without making preliminary findings as to the admission of expert testimony pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2014, the Lexington County Grand jury indicted Appellant Stroman for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree, indictment #2014-GS-32-2501. (R. p. 590-591) In October of 2016, the earlier indictment was re-presented to the Lexington County Grand Jury with a narrowed time frame. Also in October of 2016, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for an additional count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree, indictment #2016-GS-32-2423 (R. p. 588-589). On March 27, 2017, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Robert E. Hood. (R. p. 1). Aimee Zmroczek represented Appellant at trial. Rhonda W. Patterson and Bradley Pogue prosecuted the case. The jury returned verdicts of guilty. Judge Hood sentenced Appellant to thirty-five (35) years concurrent on each charge. (R. p. 586). A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on April 5, 2017. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in qualifying a counselor and forensic interviewer as an expert in child abuse dynamics and disclosure without making preliminary findings as to the admission of expert testimony pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE.

Prior to trial Appellant objected to the State calling Heather Smith as an expert witness in child abuse dynamics and disclosure. (R. pp. 130 – 136). The State argued that the testimony was admissible because the witness was being called as a “blind expert witness” and pursuant to State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 768 S.E.2d 246 (Ct. App. 2015). (R. p. 130, lines 10-13). The judge overruled the objection but limited Ms. Smith’s testimony to delayed disclosure. (R. p. 134, lines 16-24). Ms. Smith did not testify pre-trial and the judge made no specific findings in regard to her expert testimony.

At trial the State moved to qualify Ms. Smith as an expert witness in child abuse dynamics and disclosure. (R. p. 357, lines 2-4). Ms. Smith testified that she worked at a children’s advocacy center named the Assessment and Resource Center [ARC] where she conducted forensic interviews. (R. p. 354, line 18 – p. 355, lines 1-10). She testified that she has a master’s degree in counseling and is a licensed professional counselor. (R. p. 357, lines 13-18). She admitted that she has not written any peer reviewed articles on the subject and has not participated in any scientific testing on the subject. (R. p. 358, lines 8-17). She admitted that the only research she had done in the area was a study through the ARC “where they looked at truth, lie in children.” (R. p. 357, line 23 – p. 358, line 1). She admitted that she was not involved in any national research studies. (R. p. 358, lines 2-7).

Appellant renewed the pre-trial objection to Ms. Smith’s qualification as an expert. (R. p. 358, lines 18-19). The judge overruled the objection stating:

All right. Overruled. Ms. Smith will be an expert in the area of child abuse dynamics and disclosure. She will be allowed to give opinion testimony in that area. That does not mean you have to accept her opinion, but it is evidence for you the use in any way you see fit and give it the weight and credibility that you believe is appropriate as you are required to do with each and every witness that appears before you.

(R. p. 358, lines 20 – p. 359, lines 1-3). Ms. Smith then testified about delayed disclosure. (R. pp. 359-375). The trial court failed to make the requisite findings for the admission of expert testimony pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE.

The admission of expert testimony is governed by Rule 702, SCRE, which provides, “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise. In Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445-447, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

Specifically, in executing its gatekeeping duties, the trial court must make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony. First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury. *See State v. Douglas*, 380 S.C. 499, 671 S.E.2d 606 (2009) (holding that the witness was improperly qualified as a forensic interviewing expert where the nature of her testimony was based on personal observations and discussions with the child victim). Next, while the expert need not be a specialist in the particular branch of the field, the trial court must find that the proffered expert has indeed acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter. *See Gooding v. St. Francis Xavier Hosp.*, 326 S.C. 248, 252-53, 487 S.E.2d 596, 598 (1997) (observing that to be competent to testify as an expert, a witness must have acquired by reason of study or experience such knowledge and skill in a profession or science that he is better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of his testimony). Finally, the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable. *See State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518

(evaluating whether expert testimony on DNA analysis met the reliability requirements).

The trial court in the present case failed to make specific findings that delayed disclosure was beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury and required an expert to explain. The trial court failed to make specific findings that the proffered expert had indeed required the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert. Finally, the trial court failed to make specific findings as to the reliability of the testimony.

In Brown, the case relied upon by the State, the Court addressed whether the expert testimony was beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury and required an expert to explain, the first finding required by Rule 702, SCRE. The present case is distinguished from Brown because in Brown the trial court made a specific finding that the proffered expert's testimony would assist the jury because the jury "would not have any prior knowledge from family members or otherwise as to sex abuse directly." In State v. Brown, 411 S.C. 332, 341–42, 768 S.E.2d 246, 251 (Ct. App. 2015), this Court wrote:

Accordingly, we find Galloway–Williams' specialized knowledge of the behavioral characteristics of child sex abuse victims was relevant and crucial in assisting the jury's understanding of why children might delay disclosing sexual abuse, as well as why their recollections may become clearer each time they discuss the instances of abuse. See White, 361 S.C. at 414–15, 605 S.E.2d at 544; Weaverling, 337 S.C. at 474–75, 523 S.E.2d at 794.

In contrast, in the present case the trial court made no such specific findings in regard to whether Ms. Smith's testimony was beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury and required an expert to explain.

As to the second finding required by Rule 702, SCRE, the trial court failed to make specific findings that Ms. Smith had indeed required the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert. While Ms. Smith testified that she was a forensic interviewer and counselor with a

master's degree and experience in counseling and forensic interviewing, it is unclear how this experience qualified her to testify as an expert in delayed disclosure.

As to the third finding required by Rule 702, SCRE, the trial court failed to make specific findings that the testimony was reliable. Pursuant to Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010), prior to admitting expert testimony the judge must determine that the testimony is reliable. "Finally, the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable. See State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (evaluating whether expert testimony on DNA analysis met the reliability requirements)." Id. 389 S.C. at 445-447, 699 S.E.2d at 175. In State v. Chavis, 412 S.C. 101, 106, 771 S.E.2d 336, 338 (2015) the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, "Both parties argue, and we agree, that State v. White should apply in qualifying child abuse assessment experts because their testimony is non-scientific." In the present case the judge allowed the witness to testify as an expert in child abuse dynamics and disclosure. Pursuant to Chavis, the witness testimony in the present case is non-scientific expert testimony. Non-scientific expert testimony must still satisfy the reliability requirement of Rule 702, SCRE, and Watson. State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009). In White the South Carolina Supreme Court set forth foundational requirements for the admission of non-scientific expert testimony in regard to dog tracking, recognizing that the standard reliability factors set forth for scientific expert testimony in State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999) may not be useful when evaluating non-scientific expert testimony. In a footnote in White the Court wrote:

The State v. Council factors for scientific expert testimony are: (1) the publications and peer review of the technique; (2) prior application of the method to the type of evidence involved in the case; (3) the quality control procedures used to ensure reliability; and (4) the consistency of the method with recognized scientific laws and procedures.

382 S.C. 265, 274, 676 S.E.2d 684, 688 fn# 7.

The factors for expert dog tracking testimony set forth in White are:

(1) the evidence shows the dog handler satisfies the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702; (2) the evidence shows the dog is of a breed characterized by an acute power of scent; (3) the dog has been trained to follow a trail by scent; (4) by experience the dog is found to be reliable; (5) the dog was placed on the trail where the suspect was known to have been within a reasonable time; and (6) the trail was not otherwise contaminated.

In White, the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

We hold that the trial courts of this state have a gatekeeping role with respect to all evidence sought to be admitted under Rule 702, whether the evidence is scientific or nonscientific. In the discharge of its gatekeeping role, a trial court must assess the threshold foundational requirements of qualifications and reliability and further find that the proposed evidence will assist the trier of fact. The familiar evidentiary mantra that a challenge to evidence goes to “weight, not admissibility” may be invoked only after the trial court has vetted the matters of qualifications and reliability and admitted the evidence.

382 S.C. at 274, 676 S.E.2d at 689. The trial court, with a gatekeeping role, must make a determination on the reliability of the non-scientific expert testimony. No such finding was made in this case.

In State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012) the South Carolina Supreme Court found that the trial judge erred in admitting expert testimony before vetting it for reliability but found the error harmless. In the present case the trial judge erred in admitting expert testimony before vetting it for reliability. The error, however, was not harmless.


“To deem an error harmless, this court must determine ‘beyond a reasonable doubt the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.’” State v. Fonseca, 383 S.C. 640, 650, 681 S.E.2d 1, 6 (Ct.App.2009) (quoting Taylor v. State, 312 S.C. 179, 181, 439 S.E.2d 820, 821 (1993)), *aff’d*, 393 S.C. 229, 711 S.E.2d 906 (2011); see also State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006) (“When guilt is conclusively proven by competent evidence,

such that no other rational conclusion could be reached, this Court will not set aside a conviction for insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”); State v. Mizzell, 349 S.C. 326, 333–34, 563 S.E.2d 315, 319 (2002) (finding error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if the “reviewing court can conclude the error did not contribute to the verdict beyond a reasonable doubt”); State v. Pradubsri, 403 S.C. 270, 281, 743 S.E.2d 98, 104 (Ct.App. 2013) (explaining the requirement that a reviewing court must review the entire record to determine the effect of an error on the verdict in determining whether an error is harmless).

Reviewing the entire record in the present case, guilt was not conclusively proven such that no other rational conclusion could be reached. The State’s case was based on the testimony of the minor and a statement by the Appellant. A defense witness testified in regard to false confessions. (R. pp. 243-277). In March of 2014, after the minor experienced vaginal discomfort at school, she disclosed that her biological father, not Appellant, sexually abused her. (R. p. 231, lines 1-18). The minor tested positive for gonorrhea. (R. p. 231, lines 2-4). Her father was arrested and charged with criminal sexual conduct with a minor and at the time of Appellant’s trial was awaiting trial. (R. p. 231, lines 5-16). The minor initially told an interviewer that her father and no one else sexually assaulted her. (R. p. 231, lines 9-13). It was not until later in June of 2014, during a counseling session that the minor made allegations against Appellant. The minor admitted that her biological grandmother said to just say that the Appellant did it. (R. p. 329, lines 19-22). The minor’s mother admitted having to obtain a restraining order against the paternal grandmother. (R. p. 493, lines 3-7; p. 489, lines 2-14). The error in admitting Ms. Smith’s testimony was not harmless.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument this Court should reverse Appellant's sentence and conviction and remand for a new trial.


Kathrine H. Hudgins
Appellate Defender