ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000823

RECEIVED
MAR 06 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMIE L. STROMAN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

Appellant's argument that the trial court erred by not making specific findings on the record when qualifying expert witness is not preserved for review because he did not object on this basis at trial. Even had Appellant properly preserved this issue, the trial court did not err by qualifying witness as an expert in child abuse dynamics because the court conducted a proper analysis under Rule 702 SCRE, and was not required to make formal findings regarding its ruling. Finally, even if the court erred, any error was harmless because Appellant's proposed procedure would not have changed the result of the trial.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred by not making specific findings on the record regarding the admission of Heather Smith's expert testimony. However, trial courts are not required to make specific findings of their analysis under Rule 702 SCRE. Furthermore, Appellant did not object on this basis at trial, and therefore the issue is not preserved for review. Finally, any error was harmless because Appellant's proposed procedure would not have changed the result of the proceedings. For these reasons, the conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

Issue Preservation

An issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review. SCRE 103; *State v. Nichols*, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997). An objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error. *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 446, 710 S.E.2d 55, 59 (2011). A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal. *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001). Where a party does not challenge a specific aspect of the court's qualification of a witness as an expert at trial, the issue is waived. *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 340, 768 S.E.2d 246, 250 (Ct. App. 2015)

(holding “[b]ecause Appellant did not challenge [witness]’ qualifications as an expert in child abuse dynamics and delayed disclosures, we decline to address the second prong of the *Watson* test.”); *Tucker v. Doe*, 413 S.C. 389, 406, 776 S.E.2d 121, 130 (Ct. App. 2015). Likewise, the issue whether the trial court failed to make specific findings may not be raised for the first time on appeal. *Auten v. Snipes*, 370 S.C. 664, 674, 636 S.E.2d 644, 649 (Ct. App. 2006). Because Appellant made, at best, a generic objection under *Kromah*, this issue is not properly before this Court. Even if preserved for appellate review, the issue is without merit.

Expert Testimony

“If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” SCRE 702. The trial court, in its gatekeeper role, must “decide whether the evidence submitted by a party is admissible pursuant to the Rules of Evidence as a matter of law.” *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 174 (2010). Before a witness is qualified as an expert, the trial court must find (1) the expert’s testimony will assist the trier of fact, (2) the expert possesses the requisite knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, and (3) and the expert’s testimony is reliable. *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 274, 676 S.E.2d 684, 689 (2009). Nonscientific expert testimony must be evaluated on an ad hoc basis. *Graves v. CAS Med. Sys., Inc.*, 401 S.C. 63, 75, 735 S.E.2d 650, 656 (2012).

The decision of whether to admit or exclude testimony from an expert witness is within the sound discretion of the circuit court. *State v. Barrett*, 416 S.C. 124, 129, 785 S.E.2d 387, 389 (Ct. App. 2016) (citations omitted). The circuit court’s decision to admit expert testimony will not be reversed on appeal absent “a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable

prejudice.” *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006) (citations omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the circuit court's conclusions “either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 349, 737 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2013) (citations omitted). “A [circuit] court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion where the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.” *State v. Grubbs*, 353 S.C. 374, 379, 577 S.E.2d 493, 496 (Ct. App. 2003) (citations omitted). “There is no abuse of discretion as long as the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury’s good judgment and common knowledge.” *State v. Goode*, 305 S.C. 176, 178, 406 S.E.2d 391, 393 (Ct. App. 1991).

There are some situations where trial courts are required by statute or precedent to make specific findings on the record. *See, e.g. State v. Bray*, 342 S.C. 23, 31, 535 S.E.2d 636, 640–41 (2000) (allowing testimony via closed-circuit television); *State v. Hill*, 314 S.C. 330, 333, 444 S.E.2d 255, 257 (1994) (setting bail in capital cases); *State v. Colf*, 337 S.C. 622, 627-29, 525 S.E.2d 246, 248-49 (2000) (impeachment with prior convictions). However, these are the exception, not the rule. Trial courts are not required to publish specific findings of 702 threshold factors before allowing expert testimony. Rather, the court is simply required to consider the relevant factors and rule on any objections raised. *State v. Cope*, 385 S.C. 274, 289, 684 S.E.2d 177, 185 (Ct. App. 2009) (finding no error where the trial court “conscientiously considered the proffered anecdotal evidence before excluding this testimony”). There is no abuse of discretion where it is evident from the record that the trial court performed the required analysis. *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 271, 676 S.E.2d 684, 687 (2009) (“The finding of reliability is well

supported by the record, and we find no abuse of discretion in the admission of the dog tracking evidence.”); *State v. Cain*, 413 S.C. 508, 523, 413 S.E.2d 374, 382 (Ct. App. 2015) (reversed on other grounds) (no error where trial court had “sufficient evidence” to support admission of expert testimony); *State v. Tillman*, 304 S.C. 512, 519, 405 S.E.2d 607, 611 (Ct. App. 1991) (“We find the record here supports the trial judge's qualification of Hall as an expert in distinguishing tire patterns.”). Rather, an abuse of discretion occurs only when the trial court abandons its duty as gatekeeper. *State v. Anderson*, 413 S.C. 212, 218, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015) (“The trial judge declined to hold a hearing on the existence of this expertise, much less whether Smith possessed the necessary qualifications. The trial judge's refusal to determine Smith's qualification as a ‘child abuse assessment’ expert was patent error.”).

Absent a specific finding of an expert’s qualifications, the trial court’s findings will be implied in its ruling admitting the testimony. *State v. Moorer*, 241 S.C. 487, 494–95, 129 S.E.2d 330, 334 (1963) (explaining that “[b]y permitting the doctor to testify, concerning the results of certain medical tests and examinations, the trial Judge by inference ruled that he was qualified as an expert witness”); *State v. Crandell*, 702 S.E.2d 352, 359 (N.C. App. 2010) (holding “absent a request by a party, the trial court is not required to make a formal finding as to a witness' qualification to testify as an expert witness. Such a finding has been held to be implicit in the court's admission of the testimony in question”); *Commonwealth v. Salcedo*, 540 N.E.2d 1304 (Mass. 1989) (“It is evident from the transcript that the judge believed the ... officer was qualified, and his allowing the testimony implies he made that finding”). Particularly when a party does not object to an expert’s qualifications or the reliability of the proposed testimony, the trial judge is not required to make specific findings or hold unnecessary hearings. *United States v. Moore*, 521 F.3d 681, 685 (7th Cir. 2008) (holding that while courts must fulfill their

gatekeeping role, “[a] judge is not obliged to look into the questions posed by Rule 702 when neither side either requests or assists”); *United States v. Gadson*, 763 F.3d 1189, 1202 (9th Cir. 2014) (noting the inquiry into whether expert testimony is sufficiently reliable is “a flexible one” and may not require a separate pretrial hearing); SCRE 104(c) (providing trial courts should hold separate hearings on preliminary matters “when the interests of justice require”). Furthermore, it is improper for a trial judge admitting expert testimony to announce his reasoning in front of the jury. *United States v. Bartley*, 855 F.2d 547, 552 (8th Cir.1988) (noting that “[a]lthough it is for the court to determine whether a witness is qualified to testify as an expert, there is no requirement that the court specifically make that finding in open court upon proffer of the offering party. Such an offer and finding by the Court might influence the jury in its evaluation of the expert and the better procedure is to avoid an acknowledgment of the witnesses' expertise by the Court”). Where the propriety of certain types of expert testimony is firmly established, a trial court is not required to re-invent the wheel each time it qualifies a witness as an expert in that area. *Kumho Tire Company v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137, 152 (1999) (explaining trial courts have discretion to “avoid unnecessary ‘reliability’ proceedings in ordinary cases where the reliability of an expert’s methods is properly taken for granted, and to require appropriate proceedings in the less usual or more complex cases where cause for questioning the expert’s reliability arises.”); *State v. Morgan*, 326 S.C. 503, 513, 485 S.E.2d 112, 118 n.4 (Ct. App. 1997) (overruled on other grounds) (noting that trial courts may rely on prior precedent when determining the reliability of expert testimony).

South Carolina courts have consistently recognized that expert testimony may be “crucial in assisting the jury's understanding of why children might delay disclosing sexual abuse, as well as why their recollections may become clearer each time they discuss the instances of abuse.”

State v. Jones, 417 S.C. 319, 328, 790 S.E.2d 17, 22 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting *State v. Brown*, 411 S.C. 332, 341–42, 768 S.E.2d 246, 251 (Ct. App. 2015)). “Expert testimony concerning common behavioral characteristics of sexual assault victims and the range of responses to sexual assault encountered by experts is admissible. Such testimony is relevant and helpful in explaining to the jury the typical behavior patterns of adolescent victims of sexual assault.” *State v. Berry*, 413 S.C. 118, 131, 775 S.E.2d 51, 57 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting *State v. Weaverling*, 337 S.C. 460, 474, 523 S.E.2d 787, 794 (Ct. App. 1999)); *State v. Anderson*, 413 S.C. 212, 218, 776 S.E.2d 76, 79 (2015). See also *State v. Schumpert*, 312 S.C. 502, 506, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993) (holding “both expert testimony and behavioral evidence are admissible as rape trauma evidence to prove a sexual offense occurred where the probative value of such evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect”); *State v. White*, 361 S.C. 407, 414, 605 S.E.2d 540, 544 (2004) (noting “[e]xpert testimony on rape trauma may be more crucial in situations where children are victims”). The propriety of expert testimony offered to explain a child’s otherwise counterintuitive and impeaching reaction to sexual abuse is a cornerstone of our state’s jurisprudence in this area, see *State v. Hudnall*, 293 S.C. 97, 100, 359 S.E.2d 59, 61-62 (1987) (overruled on other grounds), yet Appellant cites no case requiring trial courts to make formal findings when admitting this evidence.

Here, the court heard pretrial arguments on Appellant’s objection to Smith’s testimony. Appellant’s objection, while not articulated in specific terms, was that Smith’s testimony would bolster the child victim. Appellant never objected to Smith’s qualifications or the reliability of her testimony, and never requested that the court make specific findings thereof. The court ruled that Smith’s testimony would be limited to the general behavioral characteristics of child abuse victims, and ruled the subject matter was relevant and outside the knowledge of lay witnesses.

The court made clear that it was familiar with Smith and her qualifications. Before being qualified as an expert, Smith testified that, in addition to her educational background and training, she had extensive experience in interviewing and counseling child victims. Her testimony was based on firsthand knowledge stemming from the more than 3,000 interviews she conducted and the more than 1,000 child victims she counseled. Smith's extensive experience, training, education, and personal knowledge of the general behavioral characteristics of child sexual abuse victims make her testimony exceedingly reliable. The trial court's ruling is well supported by the record and applicable precedents, and was an appropriate exercise of its broad discretion.

Harmless Error

Finally, any error was harmless. Even when a court is required to make specific findings, failure to do so does not warrant automatic reversal. *Marchant v. Marchant*, 390 S.C. 1, 13, 699 S.E.2d 708, 715 (Ct. App. 2010) (holding family court's failure to include specific findings does not require reversal of an attorney's fee award "as long evidence in the record supports each factor"). An appellate court generally will decline to set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result. *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 360, 737 S.E.2d 490, 501 (2013); *State v. Davis*, 309 S.C. 326, 422 S.E.2d 133 (1992) (explaining even if evidence was wrongly admitted, its admission may constitute harmless error if the evidence did not affect the outcome of the trial). Because it is clear from the record that the trial court performed its gatekeeping role by conscientiously considering the scope and substance of the proposed testimony, the only purpose for remand would be for the court to formally announce its findings on the record. This would not change the result of the proceeding, and does not warrant reversal. *United States v. York*, 572 F.3d 415, 422 (7th Cir. 2009) (holding any error harmless where witness "would have

easily qualified as an expert had the court conducted the formal Rule 702 analysis”). When combined with the overwhelming evidence of guilt produced by Appellant’s verbal and nonverbal admissions and the direct evidence of abuse given by Victim’s testimony, any error in the trial court’s procedure was harmless.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.